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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS

EASTERN DIVISION JUDGE AMY 8T. eve
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COUNT ONE TRiCT COURT
The SPECIAL AUGUST 2009-1 GRAND JURY charges that:
At times material to this indictment:
A.  INTRODUCTION
Parties and Entities
1. Defendant ALFRED 1. WOLFF GMBH (“ALW GERMANY”) was a German

international trading company headquartered and with its principal place of business in Hamburg,
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Germany, that purchased, imported, exported, distributed, sold, and proccésed food products,
including honey. ALW GERMANY was wholly owned by Wolff & Olsen GmbH & Co. KG
(*W&O Germany™), a German conglomerate that operated food, non-food, and fashion divisions.
ALW GERMANY was the corporate parent of W&O Germany’s food division.

2. ALW GERMANY had subsidiarics, affiliates, and representative offices located
throughout the world, including defendant ALFRED L. WOLFF HONEY GMBH in Germany;
defgndant ALFRED L. WOLFF, INC. in the United States; defendant ALFRED L. WOLFF
(BEINING) TRADE CO. LTD., CHINA in Beijing, China; and defendant ALFRED L. WOLFF
COMPANY LTD., HONG KONG, CHINA in Hong Kong, China. ALW GERMANY and these
four subsidiaries and affiliates (collectively, defendants “ALW FOOD GROUP”) acted in concert
to acquire and purchase honey from China and other countries, import and enter the honey into the
United States, and sell it to United States customers.

3 ALW GERMANY exercised control over ALW FOOD GROUP through its
managers, executives, and employees. Defendants ALEXANDER WOLFF, JURGEN BECKER,
TOM WEICKERT, MARCEL BELTEN, YI LIU, SVEN GEHRICKE, THOMAS MARTEN,
THOMAS GERKMANN, STEFANIE GIESSELBACH, and MAGNUS VON BtJDDENBROCK
(collectively, defendants “ALW FOOD GROUP EXECUTIVES”) operated and managed ALW
FOOD GROUP’s honey business, and held various executive positions at the ALW FOOD GROUP
entities between approximately 1999 and 2008 from which they coordinated and ‘directed ALW
FOOD GROUP’s business affairs. |

4. Defendant ALFRED L. WOLFF HONEY GMBH (“ALW HONEY™”’) had its principal

place of business in Hamburg, Germany and operated ALW FOOD GROUP’s honey business in
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Europe.

5. Defendant ALFRED L. WOLFF, INC. (“ALW USA”) was incorporated in Delaware,
had its principal place of business in Park Ridge, lllinois and later Chicago, Illinois; was the United
States operating unit for ALW FOOD GROUP; and became wholly owned by ALW GERMANY
in or about 2003. ALW USA imported and caused to be imported into the United States full
container loads (“FCLs") of honey and related commodities from China and other countries that it
sold to United States domestic customers, including food manufacturers, processors, distributors,
and packers. ALW USA used customhouse brokers or.agents to enter goods into the United States.

6. Defendant ALFRED L. WOLFF (BEIJING) TRADE CO. LTD., CHINA (“ALW
BELIING™} had its principal place of business in Beijiug, China, and arranged on behalf of ALW
FOOD GROUP to obtain Chinese-origin honey from suppliers in China for importation and sale to
the United States.

7. Defendant ALFRED L. WOLFF COMPANY LTD., HONG KONG, CHINA (“ALW
HONG KONG”), formerly Kirkam Co. Ltd., had its principal place of business in Hong Kong,
China, and coordinated on behalf of ALW FOOD GROUP the purchase, finance, and shipment of
honey and related products of Chinese origin for importation to the United States.

8. Defendant ALEXANDER WOLFF was a citizen and national of Gennaﬁy, held
different titles within ALW GERMANY, including Managing Director and General Manager, and
functioned as the Chief Executive Officer of ALW GERMANY from about 2003 through about
2009. As Chief Executive Officer, WOLFF controlled the operations of ALW FOOD GROUP and
managed the ALW FOOD GROUP EXECUTIVES. WOLFF acted as the General Manager of ALW

HONG KONG in or before 2003. From about 2005 WOLFF also held positions within ALW USA,
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including Treasurer, Secretary, Chairman, member of the Board of Directors, and served as President
of ALW USA from about January 2006 to about January 2007. WOLFF exercised control, authority,
and responsibility over ALW USA through his positions at ALW GERMANY and ALW USA.

9. Defendant JURGEN BECKER was a citizen and national of Germany and acted as
the co-Managing Director of ALW HONEY until approximately 2009, with responsibility for ALW
FOOD GROUP’s honey business in Europe, where he advised and consulted with ALW FdOD
GROUP EXECUTIVES regarding the importation and sale of honcy in the Unitéd States, hlciuding
Chinese-origin honey.

10.  Defendant TOM WEICKERT was a citizen and national of Germany and succeeded
WOLFF as the General Manager of ALW HONG KONG from about 2003 .through about 2005. In
about 2007 WEICKERT became the co-Managing Director of ALW HONEY with responsibility
for ALW FOOD GROUP’s honey business in Europe, where he advised and consulted with ALW
FOOD GROUP EXECUTIVES regarding the importation and sale of honey in the United States,
including Chinese-origin honey.

11.  Defendant MARCEL BELTEN was a citizen and national of Germany and succeeded

- WEICKERT as General Manager of ALW HONG KONG from about August 2005 to about 2009.

12, Defendant YI LIU was a citizen and national of China and acted as the General

Manager of ALW BELIING, where he located, arranged, and sourced Chinese-origin honey from

China on behalf of ALW FOOD GROUP for importation into the United States.

13.  Defendant SVEN GEHRICKE was a citizen and national of Germany and acted as
the first General Manager of ALW USA from about 1999 to about 2003. Between about 1999 to

about 2006, GEHRICKE held other positions at ALW USA, including Chairman, President,
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Treasufcr, and Secretary. In or around 2003, GEHRICKE became the General Manager of Alfred
L. Wolff 8.A. de C.V., in Mexico City, Mexico.

14.  Defendant THOMAS MARTEN was a citizen and national of Germany and
succeeded GEHRICKE as General Manager of ALW USA from about January 2004 to about Angust
2007. As General Manager, MARTEN approved contractual arrangements and authorized payments
for honey imported into the United States. From about 2006, MARTEN also held other positions
at ALW USA, including President and Treasurer. MARTEN reported directly to WOLFF and was
required to obtain WOLFF’s personal approval for purchase orders in excess of approximately $1
million,

15. Defendant THOMAS GERKMANN was a citizen and national of Germany, acted
as ALW USA’s National Sales Manager — Bee Products from about December 2003 to about
December 2006, where he reported to MARTEN. GERKMANN was responsible for the purchase
of bee products, including honey; the importation of honey into the United States, including
maintaining relationships with customhouse brokers; and the sale of honey to United States
customers.

16.  Defendant STEFANIE GIESSELBACH was a citizen and national of Germany, and
after being trained by GERKMANN succeeded him as ALW USA’s National Sales Manager — Bee
Products in about November 2006. Prior to becoming ALW USA’s National Sales Manager,
GIESSELBACH was employed at ALW GERMANY as Head of Honey Sales in about 2003.

17.  Defendant MAGNUS VON BUDDENBROCK was a citizen and national of
Germany, and after being trained by MARTEN succeeded him as ALW USA’s General Manager in

about August 2007. VON BUDDENBROCK reported to WOLFF and was responsible for obtaining
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WOLFF’s personal approval for purchase orders in excess of approximately $1 million,

18.  Defendant QHD SANHAIHONEY CO., LTD. (“QHD") was a producer, seller, and
exporter of Chinese-origin honey, with its principal place of business in Qinhuangdao, Hebei
Province, China. Beginning in 2006, QHD sought to obtain a reduced individualized antidumping
duty deposit rate from the United States Department of Commerce through a process known as a
“new shipper” review.

19.  Defendant GONG JIE CHEN, a/k/a “George Gao,” a/k/a “George Chen,” was a
citizen and national of China, acted as Sales Manager for QHD's honey sales, and coordinated
QHD’s new shipper review application before the United States Department of Commerce. CHEN
also sourced and arranged Chinese-origin honey from China on behalf of ALW FOOD GROUP for
importation into the United States, CHEN used Wuhan Shino-Food Trade Co. Ltd (“Wuhan
Shino”); CRC Foodstuff Inc (“CRC Foodstuff”); Vistta Inc. (“Vistta”) and other entities to process,
ship, import, and enter Chinese-origin honey and honey products into the United States.

20, Changge Jixiang Bee Products Limited (*Changge Jixiang™) was a honey producing
company located in Henan, China, that produced honey and supplied to ALW FOOD GROUP.

21, Yong Xiang Yan was a citizen and national of China, and was the President,
Chairman, and majority owner of Changge Jixiang Bée Products Limited.

22.  BoaZhong Zhang was a citizen and national of China and arranged honey shipments
for Changge Jixiang and worked under the supervision of Yong Xiang Yan.

23, Hung Ta Fan, a/k/a “Michael Fan,” was a citizen and national of Taiwan, Republic -
of China, who sourced and arranged Chinese-origin honey from China on behalf of ALW FOOD

GROUP for importation into the United States. Fan controlled and used Blue Action Enterprise, Inc.
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{(“Blue Action™); 7 Tiger Enterprises, Inc. (“7 Tiger”); and Honey World Enterprise Inc., (“IHoney
World™) to import and enter Chinese-origin honcy into the United States. FAN also owned and
operated Kazak Food Corp. (“Kazak™) through which he wire transferred and received payments for
Chinese-origin honey.

24.  “Chinese Transshipper 1” was a citizen and national of China who sourced and
arranged Chinese-origin honey from China on behalf of ALW FOOD GROUP for importation into
the United States. Chinese Transshipper 1 used Glory Spring Enterprise Co., Ltd. (“Glory Spring™);
Nefelon Limited Liability Company (“Nefelon”); Huaqi-Mercury Liability Corporation Limited,
MGL Yung Sheng Honey Co. Ltd.; Fresh Honey Co. Ltd.; and other entities to ship, import, and
‘enter Chinese-origin honey into the United States.

25.  “Chinese Transshipper 2” was a citizen and national of China who sourced and
arranged Chinese-origin honey from China on behalf of ALW FOOD GROUP for importation into
the United States. Chinese Transshipper 2 used Kentwe Products (M) SDN BHD (“Kentwe");
Garland International, Inc.; Farworld, Inc.; and other entities to ship, import, and enter Chinese-
origin honey into the United States.

26.  “Indian Transshipper 1" was a citizen and national of India who used “Indian Honey
Company” to receive in India Chinese-origin honey shipped from China; blend a percentage of the
Chinese honey with Indian honey; mislabel the Chinese honey as originating in India; and ship the
Chinese honey into the United States, all on behalf of ALW FOOD GROUP.

27.  “German Laboratory” was an independent German-based laboratory that employed
a German citizen and national (“Honey Scientist”) and that was hired by ALW FOOD GROUP to

test honey for its country-of-origin, its sugar content, and to determine whether it contained
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- antibiotics.

Department of Commerce’s Honey Investigation and Antidumping Duty Order

28. - The United States Department of Commerce {“DOC”) was charged with regulating
commerce in the United States, and as part of its responsibilities had the authority to impose duties
on certain foreign imports. One type of duty the DOC imposed was known as an “antidumping
duty.” An antidumping duty order was a formal determination issued by the DOC that duties should
be collected on imports of a particular product from specified countries. Antidumping duties were
intended to ensure fair competition between United States companies and foreigﬁ industry, and to
counter international price discrimination that caused injury to United States industries from
“dumping.” Dumping occurred when foreign merchandise was sold in the United States at less than
fair market value.

29.  InOctober 2000, the DOC initiated an investigation concerning whether honey from
China was being sold in the United States at less than fair market value (the “Honey Investigation™).
In December 2001, the DOC determined that Chinese-origin honey was being sold into the Unitéd
States at artificially low prices. As a result, the United States government imposed default
antidumping duties on Chinese-origin honey (the “Honey Order’). Between 2001 and approximately
July 2007, antidumping duties on Chinese-origin honey were as high as approximately 221% and,
later, $2.06 per net kilogram of honey through the pnd of 2008.

30.  After the imposition of antidumping duties on Chinese-origin honey in 2001,
companies not listed in the Federal Register as being I;crmitted to import Chinese-origin honey at
areduced individualized antidumping duty deposit rate were subject to the default antidumping duty

rate on honey from China. Between January 2002 and January 2009, honey originating from Russia,
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India, Indonesia, Malaysia, Mongolia, Pﬁilippines, South Korea, Taiwan, z;nd Thailand was not
subject to antidumping duties upon importation and entry into the United States.

CBP’s Examination and Clearance of Honey Into the United States

31, TheUnited States Department of Homeland Security, Bureau of Customs and Border
Protection (“CBP”), was responsible for, among other things, the examination of merchandise
entering the United States to ensure that it was admissible under and in compliance with United
States laws, and the assessment and collection of taxes, fees, and duties on imported merchandise,
including antidumping duties.

32.  CBP entry forms 3461 (Entry/Immediate Delivery) and 7501 (Entry Summary)
required importers to provide specific and truthful information relating to imported merchandise,
including a description of the merchandise and the merchandise’s manufacturer, value, and country
of origin, A customhouse broker or agent normally handled the process of entering goods into the
United States on behalf of an importer, which included filing entry documents with CBP based on
information provided by the importer.

33.  Goods shipped from a country of origin to a country of intermediate destination,
mislabeled as to country of origin, and that ultimately passed through a customhouse at the port of
final destination and entered into the Uﬁited States as a mislabeled product, -WF..‘I'E considered illegally
“tranéshipped.” lilegal transshipping was done to avoid antidumping duties being imposed on
certain products originating from certain countries, Chinese-origin honey imported into the United

States through third countries and mislabeled and declared as originating from a third country was

illegally “transshipped.”
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Federal Law Regarding Adulterated Food

34. The United States Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) enforced the provisions
of the Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (“FDCA”™), 21 U.S.C. § 301 et seq., to ensure that foods were
safe, wholesome, sanitary, and properly labeled. The FDCA prohibited the delivery and
introduction, and causing the delivery and introduction, into interstate commerce of “adulterated”
food. Food was considered “adulterated” if, among other reasons, it contained “food additives,”
including the antibiotics Ciprofloxacin and Norfloxacin (from the Fluoroquinolone family), and
Chloramphenicol and Furazolidon, all of which were deemed “unsafe” under the FDCA..

DOC’s New Shipper Review

35.  Exporters and producers of Chi_nese-origin honey that sold iloney to the United States
market after the DOC’s Honey Investigation ended in June 2000, and that were unaffiliated with
those that did so during the Honey Investigation, could request a “new shipper” review from the
DOC in order to obtain an individual antidumping ‘duty deposit rate. That individualized ratc was
based on the exporter or producer’s own sales information rather than the default antidumping duty
deposit rate on Chinese-origin honey.

36.  To qualify as a “new shipper,” the DOC required an exporter or producer to certify
that it did not export Chinese-origin honey to the United States dpring the period of the DOC’s
Honey Investigation and that it was not affiliated with any produccrs or exporters who did so during
that period.

37.  Pursuant to federal regulation (19 C.F.R. § 351.303(g)), an exporter or producer that
requested new shipper status was required to attest to the DOC the accuracy and completenesé of

each submission.

10
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38.  If the DOC determined that a party satisfied the requirements for a new shipper
review, it published a notice in the Federal Register and announced the period of review and the
expected date for issuing a preliminary individualized antidumping duty deposit rate.

39. In conducting a new shipper review where an exporter or producer’s proposed
individualized antidumping duty deposit rate was based on a single sale in the United States market,
the DOC examined the price, quantity, and other circumstances associated with the sale and
determined if it was based on normal commercial considerations and presented an accurate
representation of the applicant’s normal business practices.

40.  Ifthe DOC approved a “new shipper” petition, it issued a preliminary individualized
antidumping duty deposit rate. The DOC also issued instructions to CBP to apply the individualized
rate to all future Chinese-origin honey that entered the United States from that qualifying exporter
or producer until the DOC conducted a subsequent administrative review. If the DOC determined
that the sale was not based on normal commercial considerations, or was atypical of the applicant’s
other sales of comparable merchandise, the DOC could refuse approval and end the review.

B. THE CONSPIRACY
41, Beginning in or about January 2002 and continuing until in or about January 2009,
at Chicago in the Northern District of Illinois, Eastern Division, and elsewhere,
ALEXANDER WOLFF,
JURGEN BECKER,
TOM WEICKERT,
MARCEL BELTEN,
YILIU,
SVEN GEHRICKE,
THOMAS MARTEN,

THOMAS GERKMANN,
STEFANIE GIESSELBACH,

11
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MAGNUS VON BUDDENBROCK,
GONG JIE CHEN,
ALFRED L. WOLFF GMBH,
ALFRED L. WOLFF HONEY GMBH,
ALFRED L. WOLFF, INC.,
ALFRED L. WOLFF (BEIJING) TRADE CO. LTD., CHINA,

ALFRED L. WOLFF COMPANY LTD., HONG KONG, CHINA, and

QHD SANHAI HONEY CO.,LTD,,

defendants herein, did agree and conspire with each other, and others known and unknown to the

Grand Jury, to defraud the United States, and to commit offenses against the United States, namely;

a.

To fraudulently and knowingly import and bring into the United States merchandise,
that is, honey, contrary to law, namely, Title 18, United States Code, Section 542,
and sell and facilitate the transportation and sale of such merchandise, knowing the
same to have been imported into the United States contrary to Section 542, in
violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 545;

To introduce and deliver for introduction into interstate commerce, with intent to
defraud and mislead, honey that contained unsafe food additives, namely, antibiotics,
that rendered the honcy adulterated under the FDCA, in violation of Title 21, United
States Code, Sections 331(a), 333(a)(2), 342(a)(2)(C)(i), and 348(a);

To knowingly alter, destroy, conceal, cover up, falsify, and make false entries in
records and documents with the intent to impede, obstruct, and influence an
investigation by, and the proper administration of, a matter before the United States
Department of Commerce, and in relation or contemplation thereof, in violation of
Title 18, United States Code, Scction 1519.

Purpose of the Conspiracy

42.

The purpose of the conspiracy was to fraudulently import and enter Chinese-origin

honey into the United States to avoid the payment of antidumping duties by falsely declaring that the

honey originated from countries other than China, and by submitting false documents to the

Department of Commerce, and to sell fraudulently-imported honey to United States customers,

including honey of different origins adulterated with anﬁbiotics.

12
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C. THE MANNER AND MEANS OF THE CONSPIRACY
Entering T mnsshipped Chinese-Origin Honey Into The United States
43. It was part of the conspiracy that defendants ALW FOOD GROUP, ALW FOOD
‘GROUP EXECUTIVES, and CHEN, along with Fan, Yan, Chinese Transshipper 1, Chincse
Transshipper 2, Indian Transshipper, and others, fraudulently imported and enteréd, and caused
others to import and enter, into the United States, Chinese-origin honey falsely declared as having
originated from countries other than China, including Russia, India, Indonesia, Malaysia, Mongolia,
Philippines, South Kérea, Taiwan, and Thailand, and in doing so:
a. purchased and sourced Chinese-origin honey from various producers and brokers
located in China and caused the Chinese-origin honey to be transshipped through

other countries where it was mislabeled and shipped to the United States;

b. acquired, used, submitted, and caused others to use fraudulent bills of lading,
invoices, packing lists, and country of origin certificates; and

c. created and used shell and front companies to obtain, supply, ship, and fraudulently
import and enter Chinese-origin honey into the United States, including: Wuhan
Shino; CRC Foodstuff; Vistta; Blue Action; 7 Tiger; Honey World; Glory Spring;
Nefelon; Huaqi-Mercury Liability Corporation Limited; MGL Yung Sheng Honey
Co. Ltd.; Fresh Honey Co. Ltd.; Kentwe; Garland International Inc.; and Farworld
Inc. -

44. Tt was further part of the conspiracy that between in or about March 2002 and in or
about April 2008, ALW FOOD GROUP, ALW FOOD GROUP EXECUTIVES, CHEN, Fan,
Chinese Transshipper 1, Chinese Transshipper 2, Indian Transshipper 1, and others, fraudulently
imported and entered, and attempted to fraudulently import and enter, into the United States
approximately 606 total entries of Chinese-origin honey falsely declared as having originated in

Russia, India, Indonesia, Malaysia, Mongolia, Philippines, South Korea, Taiwan, and Thailand,

having a total declared value upon entry of approximately $39,598,775, thereby avoiding

13
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antidumping duties applicable to Chinese-origin honey totaling approximately $78,176,783,

including the following:

d.

Between in or about March 2002 and February 2008, ALW FOOD GROUP acted as

the importer of record for approximately 446 falsely-declared entries having a total

declared valuec upon entry of approximately $30,640,124, thereby avoiding

antidumping duties totaling approximately $59,044,726, and consisting of:

(1)

@)

()

(4)

()

(©)

163 entries declared as Russian-origin between on or about December 23,
2003 and February 20, 2008, with a declared value of approximately
$11,436,084;

180 entries declared as Indian-origin between on or about March 5,2002 and
October 26, 2006, with a declared value of approximately $10,361,064;

21 entries declared as Indonesian-origin between on or about October 27,
2003 and September 2, 2006, with a declared value of approximately
$1,968,926;

48 entries declared as Malaysian-origin between on or about September 13,
2002 and September 25, 2003, with a declared value of approximately
$4,626,744;

31 entries declared as Mongolian-origin between on or about August 17,
2005 and April 18, 2007, with a declared value of approximately §1,994,087;
and

3 entries declared as Philippine-origin between on or about June 4, 2005 and
December 26, 2005, with a declared value of approximately $253,219.

Between in or about August 2005 and June 2006, Fan’s companies, Blue Action, 7

Tiger, and Honey World, acted as the importer of record for approximately 48

falsely-declared entries having a total declared value of approximately $1,681,163,

thereby avoiding antidumping duties totaling approximately $3,089,977, and

consisting of:

14
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(1) 42 entries declared as Korean-origin between on or about August 5, 2005 and
March 27, 2006, with a declared value of approximately $1,301,611;

(2) 4 entries declared as Taiwanese-origin between on or about May 13, 2006
and June 10, 2006, with a declared value of approximately $232,000; and

(3) 2 entries declared as Thai-origin between on or about March 9, 2006 and June
12, 2006, with a declared value of approximately $147,552.

C. Between in or about October 2007 and April 2008, Chinese Transshipper 1’s
affiliated entity, Glory Spring, acted as the importer of record for approximately 100
falsely-declared entries having a total declared value of approximately $6,235,416,
thereby avoiding antidumping duties totaling approximately $13,781,516, and
consisting of:

(1) 93 entries declared as Russian-origin between on or about October 4, 2007
and April 28, 2008, with a declared value of approximately $5,504,893; and

(2) 7 entries declared as Mongolian-origin between on or about October 2, 2007
and March 3, 2008, with a declared value of approximately $730,523.

d. Between on or about January 23, 2007 and February 29, 2008, Chinese Transshipper
2’s affiliated entity, Kentwe, acted as the importer of record for approximately 12
entries falsely declared as Malaysian-origin having a total declared value of
approximately $1,042,072, thereby avoiding antidumping duties totaling
approximately $2,260,563.
45. It was further part of the conspiracy that between in or about October 2007 and June
2008, ALW FOOD GROUP, ALW FOOD GROUP EXECUTIVES, CHEN, Chinese_ Transshipper
1, Chinese Transshipper 2, Indian Transshipper 1, and others, imported and caused the importation

and introduction of:

15
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a. 2,121 drums of honey falscly and fraudulently declared as originating variously in

India, Malaysia, Mongolia, and Russia, having a total declared value of

approximately $987,687, thereby avoiding antidumping dutics totaling approximately

$1,242,673, and consisting of the following shipments seized by the United States:

0y
@
3)
4
(%)
(6)

(7
(8)
&)

126 drums seized on or about April 4, 2008 in Minneapolis, Minnesota;
129 drums seized on or about May 30, 2008 in Glenview, Illinois;

551 drums seized on or about June 24, 2008 in Glenview, Illinois;

256 drums seized‘on or about July 22, 2008 in Tacoma, Washington;

189 drums seized on or about September 18, 2008 in Benscnville, Illinois;

124 drums seized on or about September 23, 2008 in Minneapolis,
Minnesota,

126 drums seized on or about November 12, 2008 in Eagan, Minnesota;
174 drums seized on or about December 12, 2008 in Itﬁsca, Tlinois; and

446 drums scized on or about December 12, 2008 in Itasca, Illinois.

b. 320 drums of Chinese-declared honey falsely and fraudulently valued at $17,369,

when in fact its appraised value was approximately $175,391, thereby avoiding

antidumping duties of approximately $81,713, with such drums seized by the United

States on or about May 30, 2008 in Glenview, Illinois.

46.  Ttwas further part of the conspiracy that ALW FOOD GROUP, ALW FOOD GROUP

EXECUTIVES, CHEN, Fan, Indian Transshipper 1, and others, transshipped Chinese-origin honey

to India, knowing that it would be imported into the United States as Indian honey, and referred to

this transshipped, mislabeled Chinese honey as “white drum” honey. Between in or about 2002 and

16
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in or about December 2006, Indian Transshipper 1 mislabeled this honey as originating in India, and
after in or about December 2006, blended the Chinese-origin honey with honey from India,
recontainerized and mislabeled it as wholly Indian in origin, referred to this blended product as
“white drum” honey, and caused it to be shipped to the United States, where ALW FOOD GROUP
fraudulently imported and entered the blended honey as Indian-origin honey.

47.  Itwas further part of the conspiracy that ALW FOOD GROUP, ALW FOOD GROUP
EXECUTIVES, and Chinese Transshipper 1 caused bills of lading accompanying Chinese-origin
honey shipped from China to South Korea to declare that the product was molasses, fructose, or
glucose syrup, and upon importation and entry into the United States, caused the honey to be falscly
declared as non-Chinese in origin, including as Russian honey.

48. It was further part.of the conspiracy that ALW FOOD GROUP and ALW FOOD
GROUP EXECUTIVES purchased and obtained Chinese-origin honey and honey products from
entities affiliated with and used by CHEN, Fan, Chinese Transshipper 1, Chinese Transshipper 2,
and others after the honey was released by CBP at the port of entry, so as to conceal their connection
to the Chinese-origin honey being imported and entered fraudulently into the United States.

49. It was further part of the conspiracy that in or about May 2007, GIESSELBACH
requested a customhouse broker/agent not-to identify ALW USA in any customs - related documents
so that ALW FOOD GROUP would not be associated with any specific honey importation and
would not appear in import and customhouse statistics, including statistics that appear in the PTERS
commercial database, which contains cargo import and eiport information.

50.  Itwas further part of the conspiracy that ALW FOOD GROUP, ALW FOOD GROUP

EXECUTIVES, and others, caused certain Chinese-origin honey to be filtered before the honey
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